νĘ.

IN THE

SUFFICE COUNT

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

OCT 2 4 2011

Frederick K. Shirich Clark

ELK HILLS POWER, LLC, Plaintiff and Appellant,

Deputy

V.

CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION AND COUNTY OF KERN,

Defendants and Respondents.

After A Decision By The Court of Appeal
Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D056943,
San Diego Superior Court Case No. 37-2008-00097074-CU-MC-CTL
The Honorable Ronald L. Styn

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

LAW OFFICE OF PETER MICHAELS GIBSON DUNN & CRUTCHER

Peter W. Michaels (93212) 6114 La Salle Avenue, #445 Oakland, California 94611 Telephone: (510) 547-0255 Julian W. Poon (219843)
Blaine H. Evanson (254338)
333 South Grand Avenue

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Fourth District court of appeal erred in holding that the value of intangible rights known as "Emission Reduction Credits" can be expressly included in the taxable value of Elk Hills Power's tangible property in violation of the longstanding constitutional exemption and statutory prohibition against the taxation of intangible assets, and in direct contravention of settled precedent from this Court and every appellate district in the state upholding those limits on the taxing power? (Cal. Const., art. XIII, §2; Rev. and Tax. Code, §110(d) and §212.)

INTRODUCTION

The court of appeal's decision in this case ("Decision") contravenes both an express constitutional exemption and statutory prohibitions against the property taxation of intangible assets and rights. (Cal. Const., art. XIII, §2; Rev. and Tax. Code, §110 and §212.) In determining that Appellant's undisputedly intangible Emission Reduction Credits ("ERCs") are subject to assessment, the court of appeal disregarded Article XIII, §2 of the Constitution and Sections 110 and 212 of the Revenue and Taxation Code. In doing so, the Decision also deviated from this Court's decision in *Roehm v. County of Orange* (1948) 32 Cal.2d 280 (hereinafter, *Roehm*), which for more than sixty years has served as the guiding precedent in this state for

the exclusion of value associated with intangible assets and rights from property taxation.

Article XIII, §2 of the California Constitution prohibits the Legislature from imposing property taxes on intangible assets and rights other than those specifically enumerated in that section. (Cal. Const., art. XIII, §2.) ERCs, like almost all other intangible assets, are not listed in Article XIII, §2. (*Ibid.*) Therefore, ERCs are <u>not</u> subject to property taxation under California law. In *Roehm*, this Court upheld the exemption for intangible assets, noting that taxation of intangible rights and assets through the property tax system would be "an administrative impossibility and an ethical monstrosity." (*Roehm*, 32 Cal.2d at pp.288-89.)

The Legislature amended Section 110 of the Revenue and Taxation Code in 1995 to codify *Roehm* and its progeny. The 1995 amendments clarified how intangible property is to be valued for property tax purposes and, most importantly here, how the value of intangible assets and rights must be <u>removed</u> from the value of real, personal and <u>unitary</u> property.¹

[&]quot;The board may use the principle of unit valuation in valuing properties of an assessee that are operated as a unit in a primary function of the assessee. When so valued, those properties are known as 'unitary property'." (Rev. and Tax. Code, §723.) Unitary property includes land, improvements and personal property owned or leased by a state assessee and used in its primary operation. (State Assessment Manual (2000) pp.18-19.) EHP's unitary property is referred to herein as "EHP's Plant."

Specifically, as it applies to this case, the Legislature added Subdivision 110(d)(2), which requires that intangible value be removed from <u>unit valuation</u>. (Rev. and Tax. Code, §110(d)(2).) Subdivision 110(d)(2) provides as follows:

If the principle of unit valuation is used to value properties that are operated as a unit and the unit includes intangible assets and rights, then the fair market value of the taxable property contained within the unit shall be determined by removing from the value of the unit the fair market value of the intangible assets and rights contained within the unit.

(*Ibid.*, emphasis added.)

In this case, the Board was charged with the <u>unit valuation</u> of EHP's electric generation plant – the very type of valuation addressed in Subdivision 110(d)(2). The Board, however, did not follow the mandate of Subdivision 110(d)(2), which required the Board to remove the value of the intangible ERCs from the unit valuation of EHP's Plant. Rather, the Board admittedly and expressly <u>added</u> a cost component for ERCs to the valuation of the Plant. (Board's Answer to Petition for Review, p.3.)

The Fourth District interpreted Section 110 of the Revenue and Taxation Code in such a way as to nullify Subdivision 110(d). Specifically, the court of appeal disregarded the constitutional limitations set forth in Subdivision 110(d) by misinterpreting Subdivision 110(e). By so doing, the court of appeal's Decision overrides the <u>only</u> provision that deals specifically with how to exclude the value of intangible rights in a unit

valuation; namely, Subdivision 110(d)(2). The court of appeal's new test violates the California Constitution by permitting the property taxation of intangible assets or rights deemed "necessary" to the beneficial and productive use of tangible real or personal property. This construction of Subdivision 110(e) effectively negates Subdivision 110(d).

Under the court of appeal's new test, an intangible asset or right is subject to property tax if it is "necessary" to the beneficial and productive use of associated tangible, taxable property. (Decision, pp.39-40.) Applying its new test to the facts of this case, the court of appeal held that because ERCs are "necessary" to the operation of EHP's Plant, it was proper for the Board to include the value of intangible ERCs in its valuation of EHP's Plant. (*Ibid.*)

Under the Constitution and Section 212 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, <u>all</u> intangible assets or rights are exempt from property taxation, regardless of their kind or variety, and regardless of whether they are "necessary" to the beneficial and productive use of taxable property. (Cal. Const., art. XIII, §2.) There are no qualifications or exceptions to this important constitutional limitation on property taxation.

The Fourth District court of appeal's Decision has created an improper exception to this important rule of California jurisprudence. Accordingly, its Decision should be reversed, and this matter should be

remanded to the trial court with directions to enter judgment in favor of EHP as a matter of law based on the undisputed facts in the record below.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

EHP appeals to this Court from the decision of the Fourth Appellate District, Division One, dated May 10, 2011 (the "Decision"). EHP instituted the original action in San Diego County Superior Court against Defendants and Respondents the California State Board of Equalization (the "Board") and Kern County, to challenge the Board's decision to assess intangible ERCs owned and used by Elk Hills Power for tax years 2004 through 2008. (1 CT 1-13.)²

Because this case involved a purely legal issue, both parties filed motions for summary judgment. (1 CT 105-23; 2 CT 226-251.) The trial court denied EHP's motion and granted the Board's cross-motion on the basis of Revenue and Taxation Code §110(f), finding that ERCs are an "attribute" of real property.³ (1 RT 57:2-9; 4 CT 833:17-22.)

² All references to the Clerk's Transcript include reference to the volume, page number and lines, where applicable. For example 1 CT 125:5-14, refers to Volume 1 of the Clerk's Transcript at p.125, lines 5-14. Likewise, references to the Reporter's Transcript include reference to the volume, page number and lines.

³ In reaching his decision, the trial judge expressed doubts about his application of Section 110, so EHP filed a Motion for New Trial, arguing for application of the basic tenet of tax law that any doubt arising from the construction of a taxing statute must be resolved in favor of the taxpayer and against the taxing authority. (4 CT 763-69.) (*California Motor Transp. Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1948) 31 Cal.2d 217, 223-24.) The trial

On appeal to the Fourth District, the court of appeal affirmed the trial court's decision, but notably relied upon a different subdivision of the Revenue and Taxation Code; namely, Subdivision 110(e). (Decision, pp.40-41.) Specifically, the court of appeal determined that Subdivision 110(e) – and that subdivision alone – determines the outcome of this case.⁴

The court of appeal held that because ERCs are "necessary" to the beneficial and productive use of EHP's business, Subdivision 110(d) does not apply at all and the value of the ERCs need not be removed from the unitary value of the Plant. The court of appeal reasoned:

[A]lthough section 110, subdivision (d)(1) can forbid valuing taxable property by reflecting the value of the intangible assets that relate to it as a "going concern" business, that subdivision (d)(1) will not apply to a situation otherwise expressly provided for in its subdivision (e). Specifically, where the presence of intangible assets is "necessary" for the property to be put to beneficial or productive use, then the unitary valuation may assume the presence of such necessary assets. (§110, subd. (e).) This kind of power plant is subject to particular forms of regulation, these ERCs are properly deemed "necessary" for its beneficial and productive use, and therefore the ERC contribution to the value of the plant is a permissible consideration in the overall valuation determination. There is no basis to remove the value of the

court denied EHP's Motion for New Trial (4 CT 885-86), but the judge again noted that he had gone "back-and-forth" in resolving the legal issue presented herein. (2 RT 64:11-16.)

No doubt, this was influenced at least partly by the Board's decision to shift the emphasis of its legal argument from Subdivision 110(f) in the trial court to Subdivision 110(e) on appeal. Because of this shift in the emphasis of the Board's argument, the first time EHP focused its legal arguments on Subdivision 110(e) was in its Reply Brief.

ERCs from the value of the unit, where the unit cannot legally operate without them.

(Decision, pp.39-40, emphasis added.)⁵ Rather than interpreting Subdivisions 110(d) and (e) harmoniously, the court of appeal interpreted Subdivision 110(e) in such a way as to override Subdivision 110(d)(2) – the very provision applicable to this case of **unit valuation**. More importantly, the Fourth District interpreted Subdivision 110(e) in a way that negates the constitutional property tax exemption for intangible assets and rights codified by Subdivision 110(d).

Believing the court of appeal misstated the facts upon which it relied in reaching its decision, EHP filed a timely Petition for Rehearing, which was denied on June 7, 2011. Thereafter, EHP filed a timely Petition for Review on June 20, 2011, which was granted on August 24, 2011.

SUMMARY OF FACTS

The parties agreed and the trial court expressly found that ERCs are intangible rights. (1 RT 57:1-2.) "They [ERCs] are an intangible, I'll make that finding on the record" (*Ibid.*) Notably, the California Legislature

⁵ Although the Decision refers to Subdivision 110(d)(1), it completely fails to address Subdivision 110(d)(2), which specifically applies to cases such as this one that involve unit valuation. It also fails to address Subdivision §110(d)(3), but its interpretation of Subdivision 110(e) and its holding will be applied to all three subparts of Subdivision 110(d), thereby creating a conflict with other statutes. (See Rev. and Tax. Code, §107.7 [providing that intangible assets and rights of a cable system, including franchises, are not subject to property taxation.].)

has stated that ERCs are not "property" at all. "Certificates evidencing ownership of approved reductions issued by [an air quality] district shall not constitute instruments, securities, or any other form of property." (Health and Safety Code, §40710, emphasis added.) Taxing ERCs as "property" is clearly inconsistent with the legislative determination that ERCs are not property at all.

A. <u>Emission Reduction Credits ("ERCs").</u>

The California Clean Air Act enables air quality control districts, including the San Joaquin Valley Unified Air Pollution Control District, to reduce the emission of air pollutants by means of an "emission credit system" and a "district banking and offset system". (Health & Safety Code, §40709, et seq.) An air pollution control district issues ERCs to an emission source, e.g. an electric generation plant, when the source or plant reduces its emissions beyond what is required by government permits and rules by adding controls, replacing or removing equipment, or closing a plant. (See Health & Safety Code §40709(a); San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District Rule 2301, §3.6.) (1 CT 125:25-126:5.) Once issued, the ERC becomes an intangible right belonging to the plant owner, which can be "banked" to offset future emission increases, or sold to other companies in need of emission offsets. (See Health & Safety Code

§40709(a); San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District Rule 2301, §3.2, §3.3.) (1 CT 126:5-10.)

A plant owner seeking to construct a new plant may find itself in the position of having to purchase ERCs to "offset" future emissions, as part of the process of obtaining "authority to construct" its plant. (San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District Rule 2201, §3.25.) (1 CT 126:11-15.) This is the position that EHP found itself in when constructing its Plant in Kern County. (1 CT 126:23-27.)

In constructing the Plant, EHP took two steps to comply with the emission requirements of the San Joaquin Valley Unified Air Pollution Control District and the California Energy Commission. (1 CT 126:15-27.) First, EHP agreed to install "best available control technology" that would significantly reduce emissions. (1 CT 126:15-22; 143:8-11.) Second, EHP purchased ERCs at market rates, in order to offset future emissions. (1 CT 126:23-27; 143:11-14.)

Critically, as applied to this case, ERCs do <u>not</u> attach directly to a particular parcel of real property, plant or other emission source. (1 CT 127:1-7; 143:14-16.) Rather, ERCs are inherently separate from real property. (1 CT 127:1-10; 143:18-19.) They can be independently bought and sold. (1 CT 127:3-7.) They can be banked for future use. (1 CT 126:5-10; 14:16-18.) They can be leased or traded. (1 CT 127:3-7; 143:16-

18.) In other words, ERCs have a value separate and independent from that of the real property itself. (1 CT 127:7-9; 143:18-19.)

EHP purchased the ERCs at issue in this case in order to construct the plant in Kern County. (1 CT 601:23-27.) As part of the process of obtaining its "authority to construct" the plant, EHP "surrendered" the certificates evidencing its ERCs to the San Joaquin Valley Unified Air Pollution Control District, which allowed EHP to begin producing electricity at specified levels. (2 CT 289-293.)

B. The Board's Assessment Of ERCs.

As noted above, the Board is charged in this case with determining "unitary value," which means it must value EHP's tangible real and personal property as a "unit" – a functioning combination of real and personal property, a collection of land, buildings and equipment. (Cal. Const., art. XIII, §19; Rev. and Tax. Code, §723.) This fact, which is undisputed by the parties, requires the application of Subdivision 110(d)(2) of the Revenue and Taxation Code, the <u>only</u> statutory subdivision that specifically addresses the prohibition against property taxation of intangible value in unit valuation. Subdivision 110(d)(2) explicitly requires the Board to remove the value of intangible rights from the unit valuation.

C. The Board Admittedly Added Specific Values For Intangible ERCs To Its Cost Approach.

In each of the five tax years at issue, the Board utilized the cost approach in valuing EHP's Plant. (1 CT 137:15-17; 3 CT 513:12-14.) In determining EHP's unit value for each tax year using the cost approach, the Board took the extraordinary step of adding-in a separate value component for intangible ERCs. In fact, the Board has openly admitted that it "included a standard estimated replacement cost for the deployed ERCs" to its unit valuation of EHP's Plant. (Board's Answer to Petition for Review, p.3, emphasis added.)

D. <u>The Board Failed To Remove The Value of</u> Intangible ERCs From Its Income Approach.

For tax years 2006, 2007 and 2008, the Board also utilized the income approach to determine EHP's unit value. (3 CT 513:14-18.) The income approach is appropriate for valuing <u>property</u> that produces income, but it is <u>not</u> intended to value the <u>business enterprise</u> – only the tangible real and personal property that functions together as a unit.

One inherent problem with the income approach is that it also captures the value of intangible assets that are necessary in order for the property to produce income. (See *South Bay Irrigation Dist. v. California-Am. Water Co.* (1976) 61 Cal.App.3d 944, 988.) Thus, under the income approach, the assessor must take an affirmative step to exclude value

associated with intangible assets. In the wake of the 1995 amendments to Section 110, the Board adopted a specific procedure to make this adjustment under the income approach. (3 CT 530-33.)

The Board admitted that it failed to apply its own methodology to exclude income attributable to ERCs from its income approach valuation. (Answer to Petition for Review, p.3.) The Board's express <u>addition</u> of the cost component for ERCs to its cost approach, <u>and</u> its <u>failure to remove</u> the income attributable to ERCs from its income approach, resulted in the property taxation of intangible assets, in direct violation of the Constitution and Section 110(d)(2) of the Revenue and Taxation Code.⁶

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue presented by this appeal – whether ERCs must be excluded from assessment for property tax purposes under Section 110 – is a purely legal issue that is subject to this Court's independent *de novo* review. (*Mola Dev. Corp. v. Orange County Assessment Appeals Bd.*

The Decision asserts there is a factual dispute regarding the Board's treatment of ERCs (Decision, p.12), and that the Board's worksheets (entered into the record by both parties) can be "interpreted either way" (Decision, p.36), stating: "Jackson's exhibits also show the ERC site-specific adjustments for certain years, and they exclude the ERC costs from the total plant cost estimate." (Decision, p.37, emphasis added.) The Board admitted below that it included a cost component for the ERCs in each of its valuations. (1 RT 7:3-11; 3 CT 565:17-23; Respondents' Brief, Court of Appeal, p.5) Accordingly, there is no "factual dispute" regarding how ERCs were valued by the Board for the five tax years at issue in this litigation, and the court of appeal's suggestion to the contrary is inaccurate.

(2000) 80 Cal. App.4th 309, 316; GTE Sprint Communications Corp. v. County of Alameda (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 992, 1001.)

Moreover, in performing a *de novo* review of an order granting summary judgment, an appellate court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the losing party, resolving evidentiary doubts and ambiguities in favor of the party against whom summary judgment was entered. (*Martinez v. Combs* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 35, 68.)

Finally, as noted previously (*ante* at n.3), in construing tax statutes, courts must construe any ambiguity in favor of the taxpayer. (*California Motor Transp. Co. v. State Board of Equalization* (1948) 31 Cal.2d 217, 223-24.)

ARGUMENT

As interpreted by this Court in *Roehm*, Article XIII, Section 2 is a limitation on the Legislature's power to tax property. In this case, the Fourth District has interpreted Section 110 of the Revenue and Taxation Code in such a way as to violate this constitutional provision by permitting the property taxation of ERCs, and potentially countless other types intangible assets and rights deemed "necessary" to the beneficial and productive use of tangible property.

During the last sixty-plus years, this Court has provided guidance three times on the issue of how intangible assets should be dealt with for property tax purposes. (See *Roehm*, 32 Cal.2d at p.290 [upholding the property tax exemption for intangible liquor licenses]; *Michael Todd Co. v. County of Los Angeles* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 684, 693 [upholding the property tax exemption for intangible copyrights]; *De Luz Homes, Inc. v. County of San Diego* (1955) 45 Cal.2d 546, 565-66 [upholding the property tax exemption for intangible business enterprise value].) In each instance, this Court upheld the constitutional exemption for intangible rights. (*Ibid.*) It is time for this Court to reaffirm this important constitutional limitation on the state's power to tax only specifically enumerated property.

I. THE CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION AND SECTION 110 PROHIBIT THE PROPERTY TAXATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND RIGHTS.

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