In the Supreme Court of the State of California

ELK HILLS POWER, LLC,

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

Our conclusion that the intangible right to do business is not assessable for ad valorem tax purposes, however, does not mean the value of Post-Newsweek's intangible rights may not be considered in assessing the value of the possessory interests. As explained in *Roehm* [citations] 'Intangible values . . . that cannot be separately taxed as property may be reflected in the valuation of taxable property.' Thus, in determining the value of [taxable] property, assessing authorities may take into consideration earnings derived therefrom, which may depend upon the possession of intangible rights and privileges that are not themselves regarded as a separate class of taxable property.

(Id. at pp. 1455-1456, italics in original.)

In LA SMSA, supra, 11 Cal.App.4th 768, 776, the taxpayer made an argument similar to the one made here by Elk Hills, except that the assessee was a cellular telephone company, the assessed property was a cellular telephone facility, and the "intangible asset" was the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) permit or station authorization necessary to build and operate the facility. (Id. at p. 772.) The court held that, although the FCC permit itself constituted nontaxable intangible personal property, the Board's unitary valuation of the state-assessed public utility property properly considered the value added by such permit to the tangible, taxable property operating as a unit at its highest and best use. The court explained that:

The crux of the problem in the present case and what PacTel fails to appreciate is that although 'intangible property is exempted from property taxation, such property may enhance the value of taxable tangible property.'

(Ibid., citing ITT World Communications, Inc. v. County of Santa Clara (1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 246, 254.)

For property tax purposes, the ERCs surrendered by Elk Hills are equivalent to the FCC permit discussed in LA SMSA, supra. The ERCs are an intangible that must be considered by the Board when determining the unitary value of the power plant at its "highest and best use" because, without the deployed ERCs and the permits whose issuance they authorized, the power plant could not have been built or operated. Yet another case applying the same principle is Freeport-McMoran Resource Partners v. County of Lake (1993) 12 Cal. App. 4th 634, which involved the assessment of a geothermal power plant. The intangible asset at issue was the existence of long-term contracts guaranteeing a sales price for power produced at the plant. Like the deployed ERCs in this case, the supply contracts in Freeport ("SO4 contracts") were theoretically separable from the taxable property, but in reality the taxable property could not and would not be sold without the contracts. The court in Freeport concluded it was proper to include value contributed by the intangible contracts in assessing the power plant because they increased the value of the plant. (*Id.* at p. 644.) The Freeport court rejected the same argument made by Elk Hills here:

We are not persuaded by appellant's argument that consideration of the SO4 contract income impermissibly taxes nontaxable intangible property. Only tangible personal property is subject to taxation. [Cites omitted.] But "[i]ntangible values . . . that cannot be separately taxed as property may be reflected in the valuation of taxable property. Thus, in determining the value of [taxable] property, assessing authorities may take into consideration earnings derived therefrom, which may depend upon the possession of intangible rights and privileges that are not themselves regarded as a separate class of taxable property.' [Cites omitted.]

(Freeport-McMoran Resource Partners v. County of Lake, supra, at pp. 645-646, italics in original.)

Similarly, in American Sheds v. County of Los Angeles, supra, 66 Cal. App. 4th at p. 384, the court concluded that the "board permissibly considered government permits" that authorized landfill operation on the property, including an operating permit issued by the county's department of health service and waste discharge requirements issued by the regional water quality board, "in appraising the [taxable] property at beneficial and productive use." (Id. at p. 396.) And in Watson Cogeneration, supra, 98 Cal. App. 4th 1066, the court held that the assessor properly considered the income stream related to favorable government-facilitated intangible purchase agreements in valuing the property because such contracts enhanced the facility's value. (Id. at pp. 1075-1076.)

Elk Hills tries to minimize the significance of the cases summarized above, yet they show that the Board's interpretation of law with respect to intangibles was established long ago, and that courts have uniformly held the same view. On the other hand, the cases Elk Hills does rely on are easily distinguishable.

For example, Elk Hills mistakenly relies on *Shubat v. Sutter County Assessment Appeals Board* (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 794. *Shubat* distinguished between intangibles such as zoning, which are related to property, and business "enterprise value," which results from such things as a valuable trade name or the superior business skills of the owner and is not related to the right to use the property at highest and best value. Elk Hills' reliance on *Shubat* only highlights its dependence on both a factual mischaracterization of the ERCs here, and a mischaracterization of the facts

In valuing operating properties such as power plants, telephone systems, and similar public utilities on a going concern basis for state assessment purposes, the Board must assume "prudent management" in determining unitary value. (Board of Equalization Property Tax Rules, Rule 8(e), at Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § 8.)

and holding in *Shubat*. Unlike "enterprise value," intangibles that have been held not to relate to taxable property, such as exceptional management skills, superior work force or a franchise "right to do business," the deployed ERCs are a requisite part of the authorization for the construction and operation of the tangible power plant itself.

Elk Hills also mistakenly relies on *GTE Sprint v. County of Orange* (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 992, *Service America Corp. v. San Diego County* (1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 1232, and *County of Orange v. Orange County Assessment Appeals Bd.* (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 524. These cases also involved business enterprise intangibles unrelated to the use or value of taxable tangible property. As summarized by the court in *Watson*, "[t]he intangibles in those cases included such assets as franchise rights, concession rights, cable licenses, liquor licenses, and other assets attributable to the enterprise value of the business." (*Watson, supra, 98* Cal.App.4th 1066, 1075.) None of these business intangibles authorize or enhance the use of tangible property, and the reviewing courts always are careful to distinguish intangibles that authorize the use, construction, and operation of tangible property. (*Ibid.*, see also *LA SMSA*, *supra*, 11 Cal.App.4th 768, 776, and *American Sheds, supra*, 66 Cal.App.4th 384, 393.)

In *GTE Sprint*, the court remanded the matter to the Board for further action. Notably, *GTE Sprint* reiterated the same opinion expressed by this Court in *Roehm* and *Michael Todd*, as well as their progeny that:

[A]lthough intangible property is exempted from direct property taxation, the courts in this state have repeatedly held that the value of such intangible property may be included in the valuation of otherwise taxable tangible property. [Citations.]

(GTE Sprint, supra, 26 Cal.App.4th 992, 1002.)

And as the Court of Appeal here noted: "Unlike in *GTE Sprint*, [citation], this record does not show a refusal by the Board to address the

taxpayer's evidence of separate values of intangible assets. Instead, the board made site-specific adjustments for the ERCs, based on its formula, and the record does not demonstrate why those adjustments were improper." (Opinion 37-38.)

In summary, the cases following *Roehm* distinguish between those intangible rights and assets that are necessary for the beneficial and productive use of real property under section 110, subdivision (e), and intangible rights that are "attributable to the enterprise value of the business," and therefore fall under section 110, subdivision (d). (*Watson*, *supra*, 98 Cal.App.4th 1066, 1075.) ERCs, once deployed to specific taxable property to permit its highest and best use, are clearly within subdivision (e).

G. Elk Hills Mischaracterizes the Nature of the Emissions Reduction Credits it Purchased.

Elk Hills attempts to avoid the reach of section 110, subdivision (e), by mischaracterizing the nature of the ERCs it purchased. It alternatively argues that its deployed ERCs are like government permits that convey the right to do business, or are like liquor licenses. The deployed ERCs here are far different, though, because they provide the legal right to build and use real property as a power plant, and once deployed, they are identical in kind and effect to the many other types and varieties of governmental property use authorizations necessary to build and operate improvements to real property.

1. ERCs are similar to other government real property use authorizations such as building and operational permits, and are not government franchises.

As this Court stated in *California Portland Cement Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 578, 584, "[I]ncome derived in large part from the enterprise activity may not be ascribed to the property being

appraised; instead, it is the earnings from the [taxable] property itself or from the beneficial use thereof which are to be considered." (Citing *Michael Todd, supra*, 57 Cal.2d 684, 696.)

Elk Hills claims that deployed ERCs are "like other government permits" that "convey the 'right to do business,' an intangible right the Board has repeatedly acknowledged is not subject to California property tax." (AOB 40.) Elk Hills also argues, "If the [Court of Appeal's] Decision is left intact, business taxpayers throughout the State of California are at risk of having their intangible rights – including franchises, concession rights, licenses and other intangibles granting the "right to do business" - assessed for property tax purposes." (AOB 49.) But these claims are legally unfounded and factually unsupported.

Elk Hills claims that under County of Stanislaus v. Assessment Appeals Board, supra, 213 Cal.App.3d 1445, the value of the ERCs must be deducted from the assessed value of its power plant. Contrary to Elk Hills' claim, though, Stanislaus reaffirms the general rule that although intangible assets are not separately taxable, the value they contribute to taxable property must be taken into consideration for assessment purposes. (Id. at p. 1455.) Although the Stanislaus court did require the assessor to disregard such income as might be attributable to "enterprise activity," that is inconsequential to Elk Hills' case because Stanislaus dealt with a cable television franchise that authorizes a company to engage in a certain business in a specified location in return for an annual franchise fee. (*Ibid.*; see also Gov. Code, § 53066.) ERCs, on the other hand, provide property use rights because they are necessary to obtain the building and operational permits for the tangible plant itself, and are clearly <u>not</u> related to an "enterprise activity," such as superior management skills or a valuable trade name, which add value to a business enterprise rather than to tangible property, The ERCs simply allow construction and use of a power plant

that is built with the capacity for a higher level of productivity and emissions. (Cal. Code of Regs., tit. 18, § 8) In addition, here there is no franchise and no franchise fee, and thus no provision of a "right to do business."

Moreover, *Stanislaus* actually undermines Elk Hills' position because it held that, although a "right to do business" was not taxable, the value contributed to taxable property by such an asset should nonetheless be considered in assessing the value of that taxable property. (*County of Stanislaus, supra*, 213 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1455-56.) Indeed, the *Stanislaus* court actually directed the assessor in that case on remand to *include* any income attributable to the "right to do business" as opposed to "enterprise activity." (*Id.* at p. 1456.)

The Board's position is also supported by *GTE Sprint*, *supra*. In *GTE Sprint*, the court held that although intangibles cannot be separately taxed, the market value concept required that certain intangible values be reflected in the valuation of taxable property. (*GTE Sprint v. County of Orange, supra*, 26 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1002-1003.) The intangibles at issue in *GTE Sprint*, however, included such business-related items as trade name, customer base, and assembled workforce, which are unrelated to property use. (*Id.* at p. 999.)

It is true, as this Court stated in California Portland Cement Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization (1967) 67 Cal.2d 578, 584, "[I]ncome derived in large part from the enterprise activity may not be ascribed to the property being appraised; instead, it is the earnings from the [taxable] property itself or from the beneficial use thereof which are to be considered." (Citing Michael Todd, supra, 57 Cal.2d 684, 696.) However, Elk Hills' attempt to categorize ERCs as a "right to do business" is factually flawed. The ERCs did not provide Elk Hills a franchise right to engage in the business of

power production, but instead, enabled the construction and operation of a power plant with the capacity to produce more power than it otherwise could produce given the technology it chose to use. Furthermore, there are many requirements before a power plant can be built and operated; the deploying of ERCs are just one such requirement.

The deployed ERCs, like other governmental property use authorizations, enabled Elk Hills to obtain the necessary building and operating permits for a power plant at a higher power production level without adding cleaner and more expensive pollution control equipment. (II CT 273-274.) Cleaner plants can operate with fewer or no ERCs. Thus, the deployed ERCs cannot be said to have been necessary to engage in the business; they were only required to obtain the necessary building and operating permits to build a cheaper, more polluting power plant without investing in more expensive clean equipment.

2. ERCs are not similar to liquor licenses.

Throughout this litigation, Elk Hills has incorrectly attempted to draw a comparison between liquor licenses and ERCs (and supposedly thus make them deductible from taxable value under *Roehm*). (AOB 20.) This position is odd in light of *Roehm's* holding that while a liquor license, as an intangible asset, cannot be separately taxed, the value added by intangibles to taxable property can be reflected in an assessment of that property. (*Roehm v. County of Orange, supra,* 32 Cal.2d 280, 285-86.) However, even if we were to accept Elk Hills' premise that a key holding of *Roehm* and its progeny can be disregarded, a liquor license differs from the ERCs here in very significant respects. The ERCs were necessary to obtain the permits to build and operate a power plant, which is real property. (II CT 274.) In contrast, a liquor license is not necessary to build real property, but only to sell alcohol at a specific location under the government's police

power. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 23396.) As such, the legal rights provided by liquor licenses are different from the property rights provided by deployed ERCs in this case.

For example, selling alcohol without a license is a crime, but one can sell the real property upon which a licensed business operates without restriction and without also transferring the license. And, if an owner loses a liquor license, improvements to the property can still be occupied and used for another purpose, such as a grocery store. On the other hand, as Elk Hills has admitted, it cannot operate its power plant at the permitted emissions level or even sell its plant without the deployed ERCs. (AOB 9-10; II CT 274; II CT 348.)

Moreover, a retail structure may be built without a liquor license despite the fact that it is intended for use as a liquor store. On the other hand, construction of the power plant here could not have commenced prior to deploying the necessary ERCs. (II CT 274.)

II. REVENUE AND TAXATION CODE SECTION 110, SUBDIVISION (F), ALSO SUPPORTS THE JUDGMENT.

The trial court granted summary judgment for the Board under section 110, subdivision (f). Although the appellate court did not address the arguments regarding subdivision (f), the Board submits that it provides an alternative ground for affirming the decision of the Court of Appeal. (Davey v. Southern Pacific Co. (1897) 116 Cal. 325, 329 [Court of Appeal decision must be upheld if valid upon any legal theory].)

Section 110, subdivision (f), provides:

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